A study of Banach algebras and maps on it through invertible elements

Geethika Sebastian

A Thesis Submitted to Indian Institute of Technology Hyderabad In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for The Degree of Doctor of Philosophy



Indian Institute of Technology Hyderabad

Department of Mathematics

October 25, 2018

Declaration

I declare that this written submission represents my ideas in my own words, and where ideas or words of others have been included, I have adequately cited and referenced the original sources. I also declare that I have adhered to all principles of academic honesty and integrity and have not misrepresented or fabricated or falsified any idea/data/fact/source in my submission. I understand that any violation of the above will be a cause for disciplinary action by the Institute and can also evoke penal action from the sources that have thus not been properly cited, or from whom proper permission has not been taken when needed.

etticke 25/10/2018

(Signature)

GEETHIKA SEBASTIAN

(Geethika Sebastian)

MA13P1002

(Roll No.)

Approval Sheet

This Thesis entitled A study of Banach algebras and maps on it through invertible elements by Geethika Sebastian is approved for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy from IIT Hyderabad

Home bughnera

(Prof. T.S.S.R.K Rao) Examiner Head, ISI Bangalore

ent

(Dr. D. Venku Naidu) Internal Examiner Dept. of Mathematics IITH

(Dr. Sukumar Daniel) Adviser Dept. of Mathematics IITH

(Dr. V. Kanchana) Chairman Dept. of Physics , IITH

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Sukumar Daniel for his guidance, discussions and constant encouragement. For giving me the freedom and courage to follow my intuition and accomplish the results which we obtained in this thesis. I extend my sincere thanks to my Doctoral Committee members Dr. Venku Naidu and Dr. V. Kanchana, for their most valuable comments and advice. I thank the Head of the Department of Mathematics, Dr. Balasubramanium Jayaram for his kind support, and also other faculty members of the department, specially Dr. Ramesh and again Dr. Venku, discussions with whom have always been very fruitful.

I owe special acknowledgment to my MSc project Supervisor, Dr. Jitendriya Swain at IIT Guwahati, who mentored and inspired me to pursue PhD and also suggested me to join IIT Hyderabad. I am extremely grateful to Dr. Anjan Kumar Chakravarty who made me see mathematics in a totally different light. The knowledge through the courses taught by him has been the foundation in building this thesis.

Special thanks goes out to Prof.Joel Feinstein(University of Nottingham) who was always willing to discuss and give suggestions.

I would like to thank my friends at IIT Hyderabad for making my life at IITH worthwhile. My roommate Sangeetha, for always being there and helping me realize my worth. The girls gang: Swathi, Sindhu, Anu, Manju, Preethi, for their companionship, support and the good times.

I thank all my friends at the Department of Mathematics, IIT Hyderabad, for creating a happy environment and for always being supportive and motivating each other to do better. Specially my batch mates Partha and Sivaramakrishnan, and my seniors Pradip da and Deepika di. I am highly indebted to Theeda Prasad and Saloka Sengupta, who were there with me when I needed them the most and helped me sail through the tough times. I owe them a lot.

Finally I take this opportunity to thank my family. My father Mr. P.J Sebastian and mother Mrs. Philomena for their prayers, constant support and also freedom to pursue my dreams. My sister Greeshma for being the anchor in my life amidst the stormy seas. Dedicated to

My parents and sister.

Abstract

This thesis is divided into two parts.

In the first part of the thesis we define a new class of elements within the invertible group of a complex unital Banach algebra, namely the *B* class. An invertible element *a* of a Banach algebra *A* is said to satisfy condition *B* or belong to the *B* class if the boundary of the open ball centered at *a*, with radius $\frac{1}{||a^{-1}||}$, necessarily intersects the set of non invertible elements. A Banach algebra is said to satisfy condition *B* if all its invertible elements satisfy condition *B*. We investigate the requirements for a Banach algebra to satisfy condition *B* and completely characterize commutative Banach algebras satisfying the same. In the process we prove that: *A* is a commutative unital Banach algebra satisfying condition *B* iff $||a^2|| = ||a||^2$ for every invertible element *a* in *A* and *A* is isomorphic to a uniform algebra. We also construct a commutative unital Banach algebra, in which the property: $||a^2|| = ||a||^2$, is true for the invertible elements but not true for the whole algebra.

On the whole we discuss, how Banach algebras satisfying condition B can be characterized by observing the nature of the invertible elements. In the next part of the thesis, we study maps on Banach algebras, which can be studied by their behaviour on the invertible elements.

Gleason, Kahane and Zelazko([11], [13] and [36]), through the famous Gleason-Kahane-Żelazko (GKZ) theorem, showed how the multiplicativity of a linear functional on a Banach algebra, is totally dependent on what value the functional takes at the invertible elements. Mashregi and Ransford [22] generalized the GKZ theorem to modules and later used it to show that every linear functional on a Hardy space that is non-zero on the outer functions, is a constant multiple of a point evaluation. Kowalski and Słodkowski in [15] dropped the condition of linearity in the hypothesis of the GKZ theorem, they also replaced the assumption of preservation of invertibility, by a single weaker assumption, to give the same conclusion.

The second part of the thesis involves us working along the same lines as Kowalski and Słodkowski. In the hypothesis of the GKZ theorem for modules, we remove the assumption of the map being linear, tailor the hypothesis, and get a weaker Gleason-Kahane-Żelazko Theorem for Banach modules. With this, we further give applications to functionals on Hardy spaces.

Contents

	Decl	aration	iii
	App	roval Sheet	iv
	Ack	nowledgements	v
	Abs	tract	vii
1	Preliminaries		1
	1.1	Basic definitions and properties	1
	1.2	The group of invertible elements in a Banach Algebra	3
	1.3	The Spectrum	5
	1.4	Multiplicative linear functionals and Maximal ideals	7
	1.5	The Gelfand transform	9
2	Open ball centered at an invertible element		11
	2.1	Introduction	11
	2.2	Uniform Algebras	13
	2.3	Condition (B)	15
	2.4	Characterization of commutative Banach Algebras satisfying condition	
		$(B) \ldots \ldots$	20
	2.5	Characterizing property of commutativity is not enough on invertible	
		elements	23
		2.5.1 Counter example	25
3	A weaker Gleason Kahane Żelazko theorem		27
	3.1	Introduction	27
	3.2	A weaker Gleason Kahane Żelazko theorem for modules	30
	3.3	Applications to Hardy spaces on the unit disc	35
Concluding Remarks and Future work			40
Publications Based on this Thesis			41

Symbols

References

44

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

1.1 Basic definitions and properties

In this section we introduce definitions and concepts that are used in the thesis. Whenever required, we refer to well known text books for a proofs of results that are discussed.

Let \mathbb{F} denote a field that is either the real field \mathbb{R} or the complex field \mathbb{C} .

Definition 1.1.1 (Algebra). A vector space A over \mathbb{F} is said to be an *algebra* if it is equipped with a binary operation, referred to as multiplication and denoted by juxtaposition, from $A \times A$ to A such that

(i)
$$(ab)c = a(bc)$$

(ii)
$$a(b+c) = ab + bc; (b+c)a = ba + ca$$

(iii)
$$\lambda(ab) = (\lambda a)b = a(\lambda b)$$
 $(a, b, c \in A, \lambda \in \mathbb{F})$

It is said that A is a *commutative algebra* if A is an algebra and

(iv)
$$ab = ba$$
 $(a, b \in A),$

whereas A is said to be *unital* if it possesses a (multiplicative) unit, denoted by 1 such that

(v) 1a = a1 = a $(a \in A)$.

Note that, if A is a unital algebra, then the unit element 1 is unique. Because if 1 and 1' are unit elements, then 1 = 11' = 1'.

Definition 1.1.2 (Normed algerba). A normed linear space $(A, \|.\|)$ over \mathbb{F} is said to be a *normed algebra* if A is an algebra and

$$||ab|| \le ||a|| ||b|| \qquad (a, b \in A).$$

 $(A, \|.\|)$ is said to be a unital normed algebra if A has a unit element and $\|1\| = 1$. A normed algebra A is said to be a *Banach algebra* if the normed linear space $(A, \|.\|)$ is a Banach space.

Note that multiplication in a normed algebra A is a continuous mapping of $A \times A$ into A (Proposition 2.4 [3]). The standard examples of normed algebras can be broadly divided into three classes: function algebras, algebras of linear transformations, and convolution algebras. Some of the commonly used algebras from each class are listed below.

Example 1.1.3. Let K be a compact Hausdorff space. By C(K) we denote the algebra of all continuous complex-valued functions on K. The algebra operations are the usual ones of point-wise addition, multiplication, and scalar multiplication. Consider the uniform norm

$$||f||_{\infty} = \sup_{x \in X} |f(x)| \qquad (f \in C(K)).$$

Then $(C(K), \|.\|_{\infty})$ is a commutative unital Banach algebra with the unit element being the constant function 1.

Example 1.1.4. Let X be a non zero Banach space. B(X) will denote the algebra of all bounded linear transformations from X to itself. With the usual notion of composition of linear transformations as multiplication, and the operator norm defined as

$$||T||_{op} = \sup_{||x|| \le 1} ||Tx|| \qquad (T \in B(X)),$$

B(X) is a unital Banach algebra which is non-commutative (except when X is of dimension 1). The unit element in B(X) is the identity map.

Example 1.1.5. Let G be a locally compact Abelian group and let m_G be the Haar measure on G. $L^1(G)$ will denote the set of all Borel functions on G such that

$$||f||_1 = \int_G |f| dm_G \qquad (f \in L^1(G))$$

is finite. $L^1(G)$ is a commutative Banach algebra, if multiplication is defined by convolution ([31], Theorem 1.1.7). And has a unit element iff G is discrete ([31], 1.1.8).

For a detailed study of further examples, see [25] Section 1.5-1.9 , Appendix in [27] and [19] Section 1.2 .

1.2 The group of invertible elements in a Banach Algebra

Let A be a unital Banach algebra. An element $a \in A$ is said to have an inverse if there exists $b \in A$ such that

$$ab = ba = 1.$$

If $a \in A$ has an inverse, then a is said to be invertible and the inverse is denoted by a^{-1} . The element a is said to be singular if it is not invertible. It is easy to check that an element can have at most one inverse. The family of invertible elements in A is denoted by A^{-1} and the set of singular elements is denoted as Sing(A). It is clear that A^{-1} is a multiplicative group.

Example 1.2.1. Let A = C(K) where K is a compact Hausdorff space. Then

$$A^{-1} = \{ f \in A \mid f(t) \neq 0 \text{ for every } t \in K \}$$

Example 1.2.2. Let A = B(X) where X is a non zero Banach space. Then by the *Bounded Inverse Theorem*, an element of A is invertible in A iff it is bijective.

Example 1.2.3. Let $A = L^1(G)$ where G be a discrete (hence locally compact) Abelian group. Let us write $\int_G f(x) dx$ in place of $\int_G f dm_G$, hence dx will denote the integration with respect to Haar measure. Let Γ denote the dual group of G ([31], Section 1.2). If G is discrete, Γ is compact ([31], Theorem 1.2.5). Let $A(\Gamma)$ be the set of all functions \hat{f} , where \hat{f} is defined on Γ as

$$\hat{f}(\gamma) = \sum_{G} f(x)\gamma(-x)dx \qquad (\gamma \in \Gamma, f \in L^{1}(G)).$$
(1.1)

We will see later (Example 1.5.4 and Theorem 1.5.2) that f is invertible in $L^1(G)$ iff \hat{f} is invertible in $C(\Gamma)$.

Algebraically A^{-1} is a group and topologically it is an open set. We get this by the following series and estimate.

Theorem 1.2.4 (Neumann series). Let A be a unital Banach algebra. If a is an element of A with ||a|| < 1, then 1 - a is invertible with inverse

$$(1-a)^{-1} = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a^n$$

Proof. As ||a|| < 1, the series $1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||a^n||$ converges. Therefore $1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a^n$ converges as A is a Banach space, with sum $s \in A$. Let $s_n = 1 + a + \dots + a^{n-1}$. Then $s_n \to s$ and $||a^n|| \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. And

$$(1-a)s_n = s_n(1-a) = 1 - a^n.$$

Then by continuity of multiplication we have

$$(1-a)s = s(1-a) = 1.$$

Hence proved.

Theorem 1.2.5. If A is a unital Banach algebra, then A^{-1} is an open subset of A.

Proof. We will fix the notation for an open ball, centered at a with radius r > 0, as

$$B(a,r) := \{ x \in A : ||x - a|| < r \}.$$

To show that A^{-1} is open in A, we need to show that given $a \in A^{-1}$ there exists a r > 0 such that $B(a, r) \subset A^{-1}$. We choose $r = \frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|} > 0$. Let $x \in B\left(a, \frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|}\right)$. Then

$$||1 - a^{-1}x|| = ||a^{-1}(a - x)|| \le ||a^{-1}|| ||a - x|| < 1.$$

From Theorem 1.2.4 we have $a^{-1}x \in A^{-1}$. And hence $x = aa^{-1}x \in A^{-1}$. Thus

$$B\left(a,\frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|}\right) \subseteq A^{-1}.$$

Hence proved.

1.3 The Spectrum

Throughout this section A will denote a unital algebra over \mathbb{C} .

Definition 1.3.1. Let A be a algebra. The spectrum of an element a of A is the set $\sigma(a)$ of complex numbers defined as follows:

$$\sigma(a) := \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} : \lambda 1 - a \notin A^{-1} \}.$$

Example 1.3.2. Let A = C(K) where K is a compact Hausdorff space. Then $\sigma(f) = f(K) = \text{Range of } f$, for every f in A.

Example 1.3.3. For a detailed account of the spectrum of an element in B(X) where X is a non zero Banach space, see [1], Section 4.6.

Example 1.3.4. Let $A = L^1(G)$ where G be a discrete (hence locally compact) Abelian group. Then $\sigma(f)_{L^1(G)} = \sigma(\hat{f})_{C(\Gamma)}$, where \hat{f} is defined as in (1.1). See Example 1.5.4 and Theorem 1.5.2.

Theorem 1.3.5. Let A be a Banach algebra, and let $a \in A$. Then $\sigma(a)$ is a nonempty, compact subset of the disc $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} : |\lambda| \leq ||a||\}$.

Proof. See [37], Theorem 3.1 and 3.3.

Theorem 1.3.6 (Spectral mapping theorem). Let A be a Banach algebra, let $a \in A$, and let f be analytic on $|z| \leq ||a||$. Then

$$\sigma(f(a)) = \{f(\lambda) : \lambda \in \sigma(a)\}.$$

Proof. See [37], Theorem 5.4.

Definition 1.3.7. Let A be a Banach algebra, and let $a \in A$. The spectral radius r(a) is defined as

$$r(a) = \sup\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(a)\}.$$

Theorem 1.3.8 (Spectral radius formula). Let A be a Banach algebra, and let $a \in A$. Then

$$r(a) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \|a^n\|^{1/n}.$$

Proof. See [37], Theorem 5.5.

Proposition 1.3.9. Let A be a Banach algebra and $a, b \in A$. Then

$$\sigma(ab) \setminus \{0\} = \sigma(ba) \setminus \{0\}.$$

Proof. See [37], Proposition 3.4.

Definition 1.3.10. Let $a \in A$. We define

$$\exp(a) = e^a = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{a^n}{n!},$$

where $a^0 = 1$. And

$$\exp(A) = \{\exp(a) : a \in A\}.$$

The convergence of the above series is a consequence of A being a Banach space and the inequality $||a^n|| \leq ||a||^n$.

Theorem 1.3.11. Let $a, b \in A$ and ab = ba. Then

- (i) $\exp(a+b) = \exp(a)\exp(b)$
- (ii) $\exp(a) \in A^{-1}$ and $\exp(a)^{-1} = \exp(-a)$.

Proof. See [1], Proposition 4.98.

Now we see a condition for the commutativity of a Banach algebra which is based on results from [2] and [23].

Theorem 1.3.12. Let A be a Banach algebra such that for some $\kappa > 0$, $||a||^2 \le \kappa ||a^2||$ for every $a \in A$. Then A is commutative.

Proof. Given $||a||^2 \leq \kappa ||a^2||$ for every $a \in A$, by induction we get that

$$||a|| \le \kappa^{1-2^{-n}} ||a^{2^n}||^{2^{-n}} \qquad (n \in \mathbb{N}).$$

Using the spectral radius formula (Theorem 1.3.8), we get that $||a|| \leq \kappa r(a)$ for every $a \in A$. Using Proposition 1.3.9, we get for every $a, b \in A$

$$\|ab\| \le \kappa \|ba\|. \tag{1.2}$$

Let $a, b \in A, f \in X'$ (the space of all continuous linear functionals on X) and define F on \mathbb{C} as

$$F(z) = f(\exp(za)b\exp(-za)) \qquad (z \in \mathbb{C}).$$

Then F is an entire function and for $z \in \mathbb{C}$,

$$|F(z)| \le \kappa ||f|| ||b||$$
 (using (1.2)).

So by *Liouville's Theorem* F is an entire function and the coefficient of z in the power series expansion of F is zero. And hence f(ab - ba) = 0. Since $f \in X'$ was arbitrary, we have the result.

As an immediate consequence of this theorem we get the following.

Corollary 1.3.13. Let A be a Banach algebra such that $||a||^2 = ||a^2||$ for every $a \in A$. Then A is commutative.

Note that a Banach algebra may be commutative but $||a^2|| \neq ||a^2||$ for some $a \in A$, as seen in this example.

Example 1.3.14. Consider the commutative unital Banach algebra $(L^1(\mathbb{Z}), \|.\|_1)$. Let $f \in (L^1(\mathbb{Z}), \|.\|_1)$ be defined as

$$f(n) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } n = 1\\ -1, & \text{if } n = 2, 3\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Check that $||f||^2 = 9$ but $||f^2|| = 7$.

1.4 Multiplicative linear functionals and Maximal ideals

Let A denote a complex unital Banach algebra. The proof of results in this section can be found in [37], Chapter 4.

Definition 1.4.1. A multiplicative linear functional (or a character) on A is a non zero linear functional φ on A such that

$$\varphi(ab) = \varphi(a)\varphi(b) \qquad (a, b \in A),$$

i.e a non- zero algebra homomorphism of A onto \mathbb{C} .

Theorem 1.4.2. Let φ be a multiplicative linear functional on A. Then φ is continuous, and $\|\varphi\| \leq 1$. If A has a unit element, then $\varphi(1) = 1$. **Definition 1.4.3.** Let A be a Banach algebra and let \mathcal{M}_A denote the set of all multiplicative linear functionals on A. \mathcal{M}_A will be called the *maximal ideal space* (or *character space*) of A because of the theorem stated below.

Theorem 1.4.4. Let A be a commutative unital Banach algebra. Then $\mathcal{M}_A \neq \emptyset$ and the mapping $\varphi \longrightarrow \ker \varphi$ is a bijection from \mathcal{M}_A onto the set of all maximal ideals of A.

Theorem 1.4.5. \mathcal{M}_A is a compact Hausdorff space with the weak star topology inherited from the dual space of A.

A characterization of multiplicative linear functionals is given by the Gleason-Kahane-Żelazko (GKZ) Theorem

Theorem 1.4.6 (GKZ Theorem). If $\varphi : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ is a non zero linear functional, then the following are equivalent.

- (i) $\varphi(1) = 1$ and $\varphi(a) \neq 0$ for every $a \in A^{-1}$.
- (ii) $\varphi(a)1 a \notin A^{-1}$ for all $a \in A$.
- (iii) φ is multiplicative.

Example 1.4.7. Let A = C(K) where K is a compact Hausdorff space. For every $x \in K$, there exists a multiplicative linear functional φ_x on A defined as

$$\varphi_x(f) = f(x) \qquad (f \in A).$$

In [37], Theorem 6.2 one can see that these are the only multiplicative linear functionals on A. Thus $\mathcal{M}_A = K$.

Example 1.4.8. Consider A = B(X) where $X = \mathbb{C}^n$. Then $\mathcal{M}_A = \{0\}$. Because if there exists a multiplicative linear functional φ on A, then by the uniqueness of the trace function, φ has to be a constant multiple of the trace function. But the trace function is multiplicative only when n = 1. Now if X = H where H is a Hilbert space with $\dim H > 1$ then B(H) has an embedded copy of $M_2(\mathbb{C})$. A multiplicative linear functional will have to restrict to a multiplicative linear functional on $M_2(\mathbb{C})$, but that does not exist.

Example 1.4.9. Let $A = L^1(G)$ where G is a discrete (hence locally compact) Abelian group. Let Γ be the dual group of G. For a $\gamma \in \Gamma$, the map $f \longrightarrow \hat{f}(\gamma)$ ($f \in A$) is a multiplicative linear functional on A and is not identically 0. Also every multiplicative linear functional on A is obtained in this way. See [31] Theorem 1.2.2. Therefore here $\mathcal{M}_A = \Gamma$.

1.5 The Gelfand transform

Definition 1.5.1. Let A be a commutative Banach algebra. The map $a \longrightarrow \hat{a}$, of A into $C(\mathcal{M}_A)$ defined as

$$\hat{a}(\varphi) = \varphi(a) \qquad (a \in A, \varphi \in \mathcal{M}_A)$$

is called the *Gelfand Transform* of A. The image of A under the *Gelfand Transform* will be denoted by \hat{A} .

Theorem 1.5.2. Let A be a commutative unital Banach algebra.

- (i) The Gelfand Transform is a contractive Banach algebra homomorphism from A into C(M_A).
- (ii) \hat{A} separates the points of \mathcal{M}_A .
- (iii) a is invertible in A iff \hat{a} is invertible in $C(\mathcal{M}_A)$.

(iv)
$$\sigma(a) = \sigma(\hat{a}) = Range \text{ of } \hat{a}$$
 $(a \in A)$.

(v)
$$r(a) = \|\hat{a}\|_{\infty} = \sup\{|\varphi(a)| : \varphi \in \mathcal{M}_A\}$$
 $(a \in A).$

Proof. See [3], Theorem 17.4.

Example 1.5.3. If A = C(K), then we identified the maximal ideal space of A with K. And hence the Gelfand Transform of A is the identity mapping.

Example 1.5.4. Let $A = L^1(G)$ where G be a discrete (hence locally compact) Abelian group. Then the map $f \longrightarrow \hat{f}$ is actually the Gelfand transform of A into $C(\Gamma)$.

Definition 1.5.5. The *radical* of A is the subset of A denoted as rad(A) and defined as

$$\operatorname{rad}(A) = \cap \{\ker \varphi : \varphi \in \mathcal{M}_A\}.$$

A Banach algebra is called *semi-simple* if $rad(A) = \{0\}$.

Theorem 1.5.6. Let A be a commutative Banach algebra. Then the following are equivalent

- (i) A is semi-simple.
- (ii) \mathcal{M}_A separates the points of A.

(iii) The Gelfand Transform is a monomorphism of A into $C(\mathcal{M}_A)$.

(iv) The spectral radius is a norm on A.

Proof. See [3], Corollary 17.7.

Theorem 1.5.7 ([37], Section 5.5). Let A be a commutative unital Banach algebra. The Gelfand Transform is an isometry iff $||a^2|| = ||a||^2$ for every $a \in A$.

Proof. If the Gelfand Transform is an isometry, then from Theorem 1.5.2 (v.) we have r(a) = ||a|| for every $a \in A$. Hence by the spectral mapping theorem we have

$$||a^2|| = r(a^2) = r(a)^2 = ||a||^2.$$

Now suppose $||a^2|| = ||a||^2$ for every $a \in A$, then

$$||a^4|| = ||a||^4, \dots, ||a^{2^n}|| = ||a||^{2^n}, \quad (n \in \mathbb{N})$$

Hence by Theorem 1.5.2 (v.) and the spectral radius formula

$$||a|| = \lim_{n \to \infty} ||a^n||^{1/n} = r(a) = ||\hat{a}||_{\infty}.$$

Hence proved.

Chapter 2

Open ball centered at an invertible element

In this chapter we will first introduce what would be called the condition (B) for a complex unital Banach algerba. Next we briefly make ourselves familiar to the theory of uniform algebra. Later we explore the Banach algebras which satisfy condition (B) and show that a commutative unital Banach algebras which satisfies condition (B) is isomorphic to a uniform algebras. Finally, we completely characterize commutative Banach algebras satisfying the same by constructing a commutative unital Banach algebra that satisfies condition (B) and is isomorphic to a uniform algebra via the Gelfand transform, but is not isometrically isomorphic.

2.1 Introduction

Let A be a complex unital Banach algebra. Let $a \in A^{-1}$, then from Theorem 1.2.5 we have A^{-1} is open in A with

$$B\left(a, \frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|}\right) \subseteq A^{-1} \qquad (a \in A^{-1}).$$

We also have

$$r(a^{-1}) = \sup\left\{ \left| \frac{1}{\lambda} \right| : \lambda \in \sigma(a) \right\} = \frac{1}{\inf\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(a)\}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\inf\{||a - (a - \lambda 1)|| : \lambda \in \sigma(a)\}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\operatorname{dist}(a, S')},$$

where $S' = \{a - \lambda 1 : \lambda \in \sigma(a)\} \subset \operatorname{Sing}(A)$. Hence combining them we get

$$\frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|} \le \operatorname{dist}(a, \operatorname{Sing}(A) \le \frac{1}{r(a^{-1})}.$$

We say that an element $a \in A^{-1}$ satisfies condition (B) (or belongs to the B class) if the boundary of the ball $B\left(a, \frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|}\right)$ necessarily intersects the set of singular elements. A Banach algebra A satisfies condition (B) if every $a \in A^{-1}$ satisfies condition (B).

Before discussing the motivation behind studying Banach algebras that satisfy condition (B), we will familiarize ourselves with the notion of the ϵ -condition spectrum. Let $a \in A^{-1}$, the condition number of a is defined as $||a|| ||a^{-1}||$ and denoted by $\kappa(a)$. Note that $\kappa(a) \ge 1$ for every $a \in A^{-1}$. We make a convention that $\kappa(a) = \infty$ if $a \in \text{Sing}(A)$. For a fixed $0 < \epsilon < 1$, define

$$\Omega_{\epsilon} = \left\{ a \in A^{-1} : \kappa(a) < \frac{1}{\epsilon} \right\}.$$

Now for that fixed ϵ , the ϵ -condition spectrum of a is defined as

$$\sigma_{\epsilon}(a) := \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C} : a - \lambda \notin \Omega_{\epsilon} \}.$$

Condition (B) was first encountered by Kulkarni and Sukumar in [18] where Corollary 2.21, as stated below, says that in a Banach algebra A satisfying condition (B), every member of the ϵ -condition spectrum of an element a in A, is the spectral value of a perturbed a.

Result 2.1.1. Let A be a complex Banach algebra with the following property:

$$\forall a \in A^{-1}, \exists b \in \text{Sing}(A) \text{ such that } ||a - b|| = \frac{1}{||a^{-1}||}.$$

Let $a \in A$ such that A is not a scalar multiple of identity, then $\lambda \in \sigma_{\epsilon}(a)$ iff $\exists b \in A$ with $\|b\| \leq \epsilon \|\lambda - a\|$ such that $\lambda \in \sigma(a + b)$.

Theorem 3.3 in [16] further states that if A is Banach algebra satisfying condition (B), and $a \in A$, then for every open set Ω containing $\sigma(a)$, there exists $0 < \epsilon < 1$ such that $\sigma_{\epsilon}(a) \subset \Omega$. For examples and properties of ϵ -condition spectrum see [18]. The ϵ -condition spectrum is a handy tool in the numerical solutions of operator equations. One of the applications is as follows: Suppose X is a Banach space and $T: X \to X$ is a bounded linear map. If $\lambda \notin \sigma_{\epsilon}(T)$, then the operator equation $Tx - \lambda x = y$ has

a stable solution for every $y \in X$.

A similar (to the *B* class) but a more particular class of operators on a Hilbert space, called the G_1 class of operators have received considerable attention in literature earlier.

Definition 2.1.2 ([26]). Let H be a Hilbert space. An operator $T \in B(H)$ is said to be G_1 (or to satisfy G_1 condition or to be of class G_1) if

$$\|(T - \lambda 1)^{-1}\|_{op} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{dist}(\lambda, \sigma(T))} \qquad \lambda \notin \sigma(T).$$

Essentially, normal operators $(TT^* = T^*T)$ and more generally hyponormal operators $(TT^* - T^*T \ge 0)$ satisfy G_1 condition. Analogous results concerning elements in a C*-algebra can be made using the fact that every C*-algebra can be embedded in B(H) for some Hilbert space H (See [37], Section 14.3). Some other interesting results about G_1 operators are as follows.

Result 2.1.3 ([24]). If $T \in B(H)$ satisfies G_1 condition, then $Co(\sigma(T)) = W(T)$. Where $Co(\sigma(T))$ is the convex hull of $\sigma(T)$ and W(T) is the closure of the numerical range of T, where the numerical range of T is the set:

$$\{\langle Tx, x \rangle : x \in H, \|x\| = 1\}.$$

Result 2.1.4 ([33]). If T satisfies G_1 condition and the underlying space is finite dimensional, then T is normal.

2.2 Uniform Algebras

In this subsection we recall the basics of the theory of uniform algebras.

Definition 2.2.1. Let K be a compact Hausdorff space. A *uniform algebra* on K is a subalgebra \mathfrak{A} of the complex algebra C(K) satisfying the following

(i) \mathfrak{A} is closed in C(K) under the uniform norm

$$||f||_{\infty} = \sup_{x \in X} |f(x)| \qquad (f \in \mathfrak{A}).$$

(ii) \mathfrak{A} contains the constant functions.

(iii) the functions of \mathfrak{A} separate the points of K, i.e for every $x \neq y \in K$, there exists $f \in \mathfrak{A}$ such that $f(x) \neq f(y)$.

Every uniform algebra on K is a commutative unital Banach algebra with respect to the uniform norm. By Urysohn's Lemma, C(K) separates the points of K and hence C(K) itself is a uniform algebra on K.

If \mathfrak{A} is a uniform algebra, then clearly

$$\|f^2\|_{\infty} = \|f\|_{\infty}^2 \qquad (f \in \mathfrak{A}).$$

Conversely if $(A, \|.\|)$ is a Banach algebra satisfying

$$||a^2|| = ||a||^2$$
 for every $a \in A$, (2.1)

then from Theorem 1.5.7 the *Gelfand Transform* is an isometry from A onto \hat{A} . Note that in this case \hat{A} is a uniformly closed point separating sub algebra of $C(\mathcal{M}_A)$. That is, condition 2.1 is a necessary and sufficient condition for the *Gelfand Transform* to carry A isometrically onto a uniform algebra on the maximal ideal space of A. One should note that we might have that $||a||^2 = ||a^2||$ for every $a \in A$ but still A may not be a uniform algebra, as we demonstrate in the following example.

Example 2.2.2. Let $A = \{f \in C[0,1] : f(0) = f(1)\}$. Note that $||f^2||_{\infty} = ||f||_{\infty}^2$ for every $f \in A$, but $(A, ||.||_{\infty})$ is not a uniform algebra on [0,1] as it does not separate the points 0 and 1 of [0,1].

A model example of a proper uniform algebra is the Disc algebra $(A(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), \|.\|_{\infty})$,

Example 2.2.3. Let $\overline{\mathbb{D}} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \leq 1\}$ and $\mathbb{D} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}$. Let $A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ be the sub algebra of those functions in $C(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ which are analytic on \mathbb{D} . Note that $A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ is closed in $(C(\overline{D}), \|.\|_{\infty})$. Because if $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence in $A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ with $\lim_{n \to \infty} \|f_n - f\|_{\infty} = 0$ for some $f \in C(\overline{D})$, then by *Cauchy's Theorem*,

$$\int_{\gamma} f_n(z) dz = 0 \qquad (n \in \mathbb{N})$$

for every simple closed contour γ in \mathbb{D} . Using *Morera's theorem* we get that f is analytic on \mathbb{D} and hence $f \in A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$. Clearly we have that $(A(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), \|.\|_{\infty})$ is a uniform algebra on $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$. Also each function in $A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ is the uniform limit on $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ of some sequence of polynomials (See [1], Theorem 2.86). The maximal ideal space of $A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ is $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ and the Gelfand transform is basically the inclusion map ([37], Theorem 6.1). **Example 2.2.4.** Some other standard uniform algebras for any non- empty compact subset K of \mathbb{C} are P(K) and R(K) where

- (i) P(K) is the set of functions on K which can be uniformly approximated on K by polynomials.
- (ii) R(K) is the set of functions on K which can be uniformly approximated on K by rational functions with poles off K.

We have

$$P(K) \subseteq R(K) \subseteq A(K) \subseteq C(K)$$

where A(K) is the set of those functions in C(K) which are analytic on the interior of K. From Example 2.2.3 we see that $A(\overline{\mathbb{D}}) = P(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$. From Runge's theorem it follows that P(K) = R(K) iff $\mathbb{C} \setminus K$ is connected (see [1], Corollary 4.85). Clearly we have A(K) = C(K) iff interior of $K = \emptyset$.

For further reference to theory of uniform algebras see [9], [4] and [34]. Using Theorem 2.4.1, we will see that every uniform algebra satisfies condition (B). A (unital) Banach function algebra satisfies the same axioms as a uniform algebra except that the complete norm on the algebra need not be the uniform norm. A Banach function algebra may not satisfy condition (B) (using Theorem 2.4.2) we demonstrate in the this example.

Example 2.2.5. Let $C^{(1)}[0,1]$ be the space of all complex valued functions on [0,1] with continuous first order derivative equipped with the norm

$$||f|| = ||f||_{\infty} + ||f^{(1)}||_{\infty}$$
 for all $f \in C^{(1)}[0,1]$.

Then $(C^{(1)}[0,1], \|.\|)$ is a commutative semi-simple Banach function algebra. Consider the function $f(x) = e^x$ for all $x \in [0,1]$ and notice that $\|(f^{-1})^2\| \neq \|f^{-1}\|^2$.

2.3 Condition (B)

In this section we study one of the main concepts of the thesis (Condition (B)), hence we formally define it and develop the results obtained regarding the same.

Definition 2.3.1. An element $a \in A^{-1}$ is said to satisfy condition (B) if

$$\overline{B\left(a,\frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|}\right)} \cap \operatorname{Sing}(A) \neq \phi.$$
(2.2)

We say a Banach algebra A satisfies condition (B) if every $a \in A^{-1}$ satisfies condition (B).

We can see that if $a \in A^{-1}$ satisfies condition (B), then for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$B\left(a, \frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|} + \epsilon\right) \cap \operatorname{Sing}(A) \neq \phi,$$

thus

$$B\left(a, \frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|} + \epsilon\right) \not\subseteq A^{-1},$$

hence,

the largest open ball centered at a, contained in A^{-1} , is of radius $\frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|}$. (2.3)

Hence (2.2) implies (2.3). Note that (2.3) implies (2.2) in some special case like when

- (i) dist $(a, \operatorname{Sing} A) = \frac{1}{r(a^{-1})}$.
- (ii) The Banach algebra A is finite dimensional, where the closed balls are compact.

Note: One can also explore these Banach algebras where the largest open ball centered at an invertible a, contained in A^{-1} , is of radius $\frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|}$.

But for this thesis, we stick to examining the ones which satisfy (2.2). We attempt on understanding as well as characterizing all Banach Algebras which satisfy condition (B) and which do not. To actualize the above mentioned objective, we discuss the observations made in some classical Banach Algebras. We start by inspecting some examples and progress further. The basic approach adopted to show if $a \in A^{-1}$ satisfies condition (B) is calculating $||a^{-1}||$ and producing an element $s \in \text{Sing}(A)$ such that $||a - s|| = \frac{1}{||a^{-1}||}$. We obtain the following examples that come immediately.

Example 2.3.2. Consider the space of all complex numbers with respect to usual addition and multiplication. Let $z = a + ib, z \neq 0$ then,

$$\left|\frac{1}{z^{-1}}\right| = \frac{1}{|z^{-1}|} = \sqrt{a^2 + b^2} = |z|.$$

Hence we have

$$B\left(z,\frac{1}{|z^{-1}|}\right) = B(z,|z|)$$

So we have the singular element zero on the boundary.

Example 2.3.3. Consider C(K) for a compact Hausdorff space K. Let $f \in C(K)$ be invertible. As K is compact, $\inf |f|$ is attained at some point say x_0 in K. From Example 1.2.1 we have

$$f^{-1}(x) = \frac{1}{f(x)}$$
 $(x \in X)$

Hence,

$$||f^{-1}||_{\infty} = \sup\left\{ \left| \frac{1}{f(x)} \right| : x \in X \right\} = \frac{1}{\inf\{|f(x)| : x \in X\}} = \frac{1}{|f(x_0)|}$$

Now consider the function $g = f - f(x_0) \in C(K)$. Then $g(x_0) = 0$. And

$$||f - g||_{\infty} = |f(x_0)| = \frac{1}{||f^{-1}||_{\infty}}$$

So, we have found a singular function g on the boundary.

Next we give an example of a Banach algebra that does not satisfy condition B.

Example 2.3.4 ([17], Ex 2.10). Let $A = \left\{ a \in \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{C}) : a = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ 0 & \alpha \end{bmatrix} \right\}$, equipped with the norm

$$\|a\| = |\alpha| + |\beta|.$$

Then $(A, \|.\|)$ is a Banach algebra. Note that any $b = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ 0 & \alpha \end{bmatrix} \in A$ is invertible iff $\alpha \neq 0$. Let $a = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ then $a^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $\|a^{-1}\| = 2$. Suppose there exists an element $b = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \beta \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{Sing}(A)$ such that $\|a - b\| = \frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|} = \frac{1}{2}$. We have $|1| + |1 - \beta| = \frac{1}{2}$, which is not possible.

Remark 2.3.5. A Banach algebra in which every $a \in A^{-1}$ has condition number $\kappa(a)$ equal to 1 satisfies condition (B), with the element 0 on the boundary. But such algebras are actually isometrically isomorphic to \mathbb{C} ([19], Theorem 1.5.2).

Now we move to a more general class of Banach algebras to check if they satisfy condition (B). Using the polar decomposition of invertible elements in a C^{*} algebra we easily prove the following result.

Theorem 2.3.6. Let A be a unital C^* -algebra, then A satisfies condition (B).

Proof. If $a \in A^{-1}$, then a has a unique decomposition a = bu where $b \ge 0$ and u is a unitary element in A. Moreover, $b = (aa^*)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ (by Corollary 6.40 in [1]). Applying continuous functional calculus we get the invertibility of b from the invertibility of a, also $b^{-1} \ge 0$ and

$$||b^{-1}||^2 = ||b^{-1}b^{-1^*}|| = ||a^{-1}a^{-1^*}|| = ||a^{-1}||^2.$$

Hence $||b^{-1}|| = ||a^{-1}||$. Given that b^{-1} is self adjoint,

$$\frac{1}{\|b^{-1}\|} = \frac{1}{\sup\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(b^{-1})\}} = \inf\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(b)\} = |\lambda_0| \text{ say.}$$

As $a - \lambda_0 u = bu - \lambda_0 u = (b - \lambda_0 1)u$, non invertibility of $b - \lambda_0 1$ implies non invertibility of $a - \lambda_0 u$. Moreover,

$$||a - (a - \lambda_0 u)|| = ||\lambda_0 u|| = |\lambda_0| = \frac{1}{||b^{-1}||} = \frac{1}{||a^{-1}||}$$

Thus $(a - \lambda_0 u)$ is the desired singular element.

If we take H to be a Hilbert space then B(H) is a C*-algebra and hence by the above theorem it satisfies condition (B). On considering a Banach space instead of a Hilbert space, we have obtained a sufficient condition to satisfy condition (B). First we recall the concept of a norm attaining operator.

Definition 2.3.7. An operator $T \in B(X)$ is called *norm attaining* if there exists an element $x \in X$ with ||x|| = 1, such that

$$||Tx|| = ||T||_{op}.$$

A common example of a norm attaining operator is any $T \in B(X)$ such that $||T||_{op}$ or $-||T||_{op}$ is an eigenvalue of T. For more information on such operators see [5]. Now we prove the following result.

Theorem 2.3.8. Let $T \in B(X)$ be such that T^{-1} is norm attaining, then T satisfies condition (B).

Proof. We have that T^{-1} is norm attaining, hence there exist $x, y \in X$, ||x|| = ||y|| = 1 such that

$$T^{-1}x = (||T^{-1}||_{op})y.$$

Using Hahn Banach theorem there exists $f \in X'$ for which ||f|| = f(y) = 1. Consider $A \in B(X)$ defined by

$$Au = -(\|T^{-1}\|_{op})^{-1}f(u)x$$
 for $u \in X$.

In particular $Ay = -(\|T^{-1}\|_{op}^{-1})x$. Using the fact that $T^{-1}x = (\|T^{-1}\|_{op})y$, we get $(\|T^{-1}\|_{op}^{-1})x = Ty$ and hence Ay = -Ty, implying $0 \in \sigma(T+A)$. Observe that $\|A\|_{op} \leq \|T^{-1}\|_{op}^{-1}$. Suppose $\|A\|_{op} < \|T^{-1}\|_{op}^{-1}$. Then

$$||A - T + T||_{op} = ||T - (T + A)||_{op} < ||T^{-1}||_{op}^{-1},$$

which implies (T + A) is invertible, a contradiction. Hence $||A||_{op} = ||T^{-1}||_{op}^{-1}$. \Box

Remark 2.3.9. The converse of Theorem 2.3.8 may not be true. Let H denote the Hilbert space $(\ell^2, \|.\|_2)$ and $\{e_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be the standard orthonormal basis for $(\ell^2, \|.\|_2)$. Consider $T \in B(H)$ defined by

$$T(e_n) = \left(1 + \frac{1}{(n+1)}\right)e_n \qquad (n \ge 1.)$$

Then T is invertible and satisfies condition (B) as H is a Hilbert space, but T^{-1} is not norm attaining.

Remark 2.3.10. If X is finite dimensional, then any $T \in B(X)$ attains its norm, and hence from Theorem 2.3.8, B(X) satisfies condition (B).

Recall that if $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\{X_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Lambda}$ is a family of Banach spaces, then their ℓ_p -direct sum is the space

$$X = \left\{ x \in \prod_{\alpha \in \Lambda} X_{\alpha} : \sum_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \|x_{\alpha}\|^{p} < \infty \right\}$$

endowed with the norm

$$||x|| = \left(\sum_{\alpha \in \Lambda} ||x_{\alpha}||^{p}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

With this information, we prove another result.

Theorem 2.3.11. Let X be the ℓ_p direct sum of the family $\{X_\alpha : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$ of finite dimensional Banach spaces, 1 . Then <math>B(X) satisfies condition (B).

Proof. Let $T \in B(X)^{-1}$. Then

$$\frac{1}{\|T^{-1}\|_{op}} = \inf\{\|Tx\| : \|x\| = 1\}.$$

From ([32], Lemma 3.4) we have that there exists a $S \in B(X)$ such that $||S||_{op} \leq \frac{1}{||T^{-1}||_{op}}$ and $\inf\{||(T+S)x|| : ||x|| = 1\} = 0$ which gives us that T+S is singular, and hence acts as a required singular element on the boundary.

2.4 Characterization of commutative Banach Algebras satisfying condition (B)

Let A be a complex unital Banach algebra with unit 1. We begin by obtaining a sufficient condition for an element $a \in A^{-1}$ to satisfy condition (B).

Theorem 2.4.1. Let $a \in A^{-1}$ such that $||(a^{-1})^2|| = ||a^{-1}||^2$, then a satisfies condition (B).

Proof. Since $||(a^{-1})^2|| = ||a^{-1}||^2$, by the compactness of spectrum there exists $\lambda_0 \in \sigma(a)$ such that

$$\frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|} = \frac{1}{r(a^{-1})} = \inf\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(a)\} = |\lambda_0|.$$

The element $s = a - \lambda_0 \in A$ can be taken as a singular element in the boundary of $B\left(a, \frac{1}{\|a^{-1}\|}\right)$ with the required property. \Box

Now we will show that the sufficient condition in Theorem 2.4.1 turns out to be necessary for commutative Banach algebras.

Theorem 2.4.2. Let A be a commutative Banach algebra. Then $a \in A^{-1}$ satisfies condition (B) if and only if $||(a^{-1})^2|| = ||a^{-1}||^2$.

Proof. If a satisfies (B), there exists $s \in \text{Sing}(A)$ such that

$$\|a^{-1}\|^2 = \frac{1}{\|a-s\|^2} \le \frac{1}{\|(a-s)^2\|} = \frac{1}{\|a^2 - (sa + as - s^2)\|} \le \|(a^{-1})^2\|.$$

The last inequality holds true because a^2 is invertible and $sa + as - s^2 \in \text{Sing}(A)$ as A is commutative. And also $(a^{-1})^2 = (a^2)^{-1}$. Thus we have $||a^{-1}||^2 = ||(a^{-1})^2||$. \Box

Corollary 2.4.3. Let A be a finite dimensional Banach algebra that satisfies condition (B). Then A is commutative if and only if $||a^2|| = ||a||^2$ for every $a \in A$.

Proof. The proof follows from the fact that invertible elements are dense in a finite dimensional Banach algebra and Theorem 1.3.12. \Box

Remark 2.4.4. The converse of Theorem 2.4.1 may not be true if A is non-commutative. We saw in Theorem 2.3.6 that any invertible operator on a Hilbert space satisfies condition (B), but if we take J to be a complex valued invertible matrix such that J^{-1} is a Jordan matrix with r(J) < 1, then $r(J^{-1}) \neq ||J^{-1}||$.

Remark 2.4.5. In the commutative case, as (B) is solely dependent on the spectral radius of $a^{-1} \in A$, a will satisfy (B) even in the smallest Banach subalgebra containing 1, a and a^{-1} .

Remark 2.4.6. It can be shown that in a commutative unital Banach algebra, the elements satisfying condition (B) form a monoid under multiplication.

Before proceeding further to characterize commutative Banach algebras that satisfy condition (B), we will make some observations using Theorem 2.4.2. The mere definition of condition (B) results into the following theorem.

Theorem 2.4.7. Let A and B be unital Banach algebras. Let $\phi : A \to B$ be an isometric Banach algebra isomorphism. Then ϕ preserves condition (B).

In the following example we show that Theorem 2.4.7 may not hold if ϕ is not onto.

Example 2.4.8. Consider the complex field \mathbb{C} . Then the identity map $(\lambda \longrightarrow \lambda 1$ for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, where 1 denotes the constant function 1.) is an isometric homomorphism from \mathbb{C} into $(C^{(1)}[0,1], \|.\|)$ but $(C^{(1)}[0,1], \|.\|)$ does not satisfy (B) (See Example 2.2.5).

Further if we drop the isometry condition, we show that Theorem 2.4.7 may not work.

Example 2.4.9. Let X be a locally compact Hausdorff space and X^{∞} denote the one point compactification of X. Then X^{∞} is a compact Hausdorff space (See [14], Chapter 5, Theorem 21). $C(X^{\infty})$, being a uniform algebra satisfies condition (B). Let $C_0(X)$ denote the vector space of all continuous functions on X that vanish at infinity. Then $C_0(X)$ is a Banach algebra with point wise multiplication and the uniform norm $||f||_{\infty} = \sup_{x \in X} |f(x)|$. Since it is not unital, consider the standard *unitization* of $C_0(X)$ which is

$$C_0(X)^e := C_0(X) \times \mathbb{C}$$

with multiplication

$$(a,\lambda)(b,\mu) = (ab + \lambda b + \mu a, \lambda \mu)$$

and norm defined as

$$||(a, \lambda)|| = ||a|| + |\lambda|.$$

 $(C_0(X)^e, \|.\|)$ is a Banach algebra with unit element (0, 1). Now let X be the interval $[1, \infty)$. Then by Proposition 16.5 in $[3], (\frac{1}{x^2}, 1)$ has the inverse $(\frac{-1}{1+x^2}, 1)$ in $C_0([1, \infty))^e$. But in view of Theorem 2.4.2, $(\frac{1}{x^2}, 1)$ does not satisfy condition (B), as $\|(\frac{-1}{1+x^2}, 1)\|^2 \neq \|(\frac{-1}{1+x^2}, 1)^2\|$. Define the map $\psi: C_0([1, \infty))^e \to C([1, \infty)^\infty)$ by

$$\psi(f,\lambda) = f + \lambda e,$$

where e(x) = 1 for every $x \in [1, \infty)^{\infty}$ and each $f \in C_0([1, \infty))$ is extended by assigning zero to the point ∞ . It can be proved that ψ is a Banach algebra isomorphism, but not an isometry (See [7] Lemma 2.3.2).

From the next example we show that even finite dimensional Banach algebras may fail to satisfy condition (B).

Example 2.4.10. Consider $L^1(\mathbb{Z}_2) = \{f | f : \mathbb{Z}_2 \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}\}$ with the norm ||f|| = |f(0)| + |f(1)| and multiplication defined as

$$(f * g)(0) = f(0)g(0) + f(1)g(1)$$
$$(f * g)(1) = f(0)g(1) + f(1)g(0).$$

Here the identity element being e defined by e(0) = 1, e(1) = 0. From Theorem 2.4.2 it is easy to verify that f = (1, 0) and g = (0, i) satisfy condition (B) but f + g does not. In particular, as in this case, $\alpha f + \beta e$ may not satisfy condition (B) for some $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{C}$.

Next we will show how a commutative unital Banach algebra that satisfies condition (B), is ismorphic to a uniform algebra. Before that we will state the following result given by Arundathi and Kulkarni ([17], Corollary 3.13).

Result 2.4.11. Let A be a Banach algebra and $a \in A$ be such that

$$\|(a-\lambda)^{-1}\| = \frac{1}{\operatorname{dist}(\lambda,\sigma(a))} \qquad (\lambda \in \rho(a)).$$

Then $V(a) = Co(\sigma(a))$ and $||a|| \le exp(1)r(a)$, where

 $V(a) := \{ f(a) : f \in A', f(1) = 1, \|f\| = 1 \},\$

A' is the space of all continuous linear functionals on A and $Co(\sigma(a))$ is the convex hull of $\sigma(a)$.

Theorem 2.4.12. Let A be a commutative Banach algebra that satisfies condition (B), then A is isomorphic to a uniform algebra.

Proof. As A satisfies condition (B), by Theorem 2.4.2 we have r(a) = ||a|| for every $a \in A^{-1}$, and hence for every $a \in A$

$$r((a - \lambda)^{-1}) = ||(a - \lambda)^{-1}|| \qquad (\lambda \in \rho(a)).$$

Therefore,

$$\|(a-\lambda)^{-1}\| = \frac{1}{dist(\lambda,\sigma(a))} \qquad (\lambda \in \rho(a)).$$

Hence from Result 2.4.11 we get

$$||a|| \le \exp(1)r(a) \text{ for every } a \in A.$$
(2.4)

Let \mathcal{M}_A denote the character space of A, which is a compact Hausdorff space. From Equation (2.4), and by using the Gelfand transform (see Theorem 1.5.2) we have

$$||a|| \le \exp(1) ||\hat{a}||_{\infty} \text{ for every } a \in A.$$

$$(2.5)$$

Equation 2.5 actually says that the Gelfand transform is injective on A, and its range is closed in $C(\mathcal{M}_A)$. Thus A is isomorphic onto a subalgebra (basically \hat{A}) of $C(\mathcal{M}_A)$ that is closed, point separating and contains the constants.

2.5 Characterizing property of commutativity is not enough on invertible elements

In this section, while attempting to check if a commutative unital Banach algebra which satisfies condition (B), is isometrically isomorphic (via the Gelfand transform) to a uniform algebra or not, we end up constructing a commutative unital Banach algebra, in which the property: $||a^2|| = ||a||^2$; is true for the invertible elements but cannot be extended to the whole algebra.

In Theorem 2.4.12 we showed that if A is a commutative unital Banach algebra that satisfies condition (B) i.e $||a||^2 = ||a^2||$ for every $a \in A^{-1}$ (by Theorem 2.4.2), then A is isomorphic to a uniform algebra (which is basically the range of the Gelfand transform). One should note that, a Banach algebra A may be isomorphic to a uniform algebra but r(a) may not be equal to ||a|| or equivalently $||a^2|| \neq ||a||^2$, for some $a \in A^{-1}$, as shown in the following example

Example 2.5.1. Let $A = \mathbb{C}^2$, with coordinate-wise multiplication. A with the uniform norm $||(a,b)||_{\infty} = \max(|a|,|b|)$, is a uniform algebra. A is also a Banach algebra with the norm $||(a,b)||_1 = |a| + |b|$ and $(A, ||.||_1)$ is isomorphic to $(A, ||.||_{\infty})$. But $(A, ||.||_1)$ does not satisfy condition (B). In fact $r(a,b) < ||(a,b)||_1$ if and only if (a,b) is invertible in $(A, ||.||_1)$.

In place of the above example one could also consider the space $(C_0([1,\infty))^e, \|.\|)$ (refer Example 2.4.9) and see that it is isomorphic to the uniform algebra $(C([1,\infty)^{\infty}.\|.\|_{\infty})$. But $\|(\frac{-1}{1+x^2},1)\|^2 \neq \|(\frac{-1}{1+x^2},1)^2\|$, where $(\frac{-1}{1+x^2},1)$ is invertible in $(C_0([1,\infty))^e, \|.\|)$ with the inverse $(\frac{1}{x^2},1)$.

Let us recall Theorem 1.5.7, which states that: Let A be a commutative unital Banach algebra. Then the Gelfand Transform is an isometry iff $||a^2|| = ||a||^2$ for every $a \in A$. Now with regard to Theorem 2.4.12 and Theorem 1.5.7, we asked the following question:

Question 2.5.2. Suppose A is a commutative unital Banach algebra satisfying condition (B). Then is $||a||^2 = ||a^2||$ for every $a \in A$?

Note: Recall Corollary 1.3.13, which states that: Let A be a Banach algebra such that $||a||^2 = ||a^2||$ for every $a \in A$. Then A is commutative. Considering Corollary 2.4.3, Corollary 1.3.13 and Question 2.5.2, we can also ask:

Can Corollary 2.4.3 be generalized to the following: Let $(A, \|.\|)$ be a complex unital Banach algebra satifying condition(B), is it true that A is commutative iff $\|a^2\| = \|a\|^2$ for every $a \in A$?

Note that the answer to the above question is positive if A^{-1} is dense in $(A, \|.\|)$. Regarding denseness there is a complete characterization for commutative Banach algebras ([28] Proposition 3.1): Let $(A, \|.\|)$ be a commutative Banach algebra, then A has dense invertible group if and only if the topological stable rank of A is one. Recently, Dawson and Feinstein [6] also investigated the condition that a complex commutative Banach algebra has dense invertible group.

2.5.1 Counter example

The answer to both the above questions is negative in general. We give an example of a commutative unital Banach algebra that satisfies condition (B) (and hence is isomorphic to a uniform algebra with $||a^2|| = ||a||^2$ for every $a \in A^{-1}$ but still there exists an $a \in A$ such that $||a^2|| \neq ||a||^2$. Now let us construct the example which answers question 2.5.2 negatively.

Example 2.5.3. Let $\overline{\mathbb{D}} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \leq 1\}$ and $\mathbb{D} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}$. Let $A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ be the set of those functions in $C(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ which are analytic on \mathbb{D} . Consider $U = (A(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), \|.\|_{\infty})$, the disc algebra on $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$, where $\|.\|_{\infty}$ denotes the uniform norm,

$$||f||_{\infty} = \sup\{|f(t)| : t \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}\}$$

and multiplication is point-wise. U is a uniform algebra and $r(f) = ||f||_{\infty}$ for every $f \in U$. Note that in this case U^{-1} is not dense in U, as any element in $\overline{U^{-1}}$ is either identically zero or has all its zeros contained in the unit circle (see [29]).

For any $f \in U$, let

$$p(f) := \inf \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|f_i\|_{\infty} : f = \sum_{k=1}^{n} f_i, \ f_i \in U^{-1} \right\}$$

where the infimum is taken over all representations of f as a finite combination of elements of U^{-1} . The set of such representations is non empty as $f = (f - \lambda 1) + \lambda 1$ for $f \in U$ and $\lambda \in \rho(f)$. Now $(A(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), p(.))$ is a normed algebra with the following properties.

- (i) $p(f) = ||f||_{\infty} = r(f)$ $(f \in U^{-1})$
- (ii) $||f||_{\infty} \leq p(f) \leq 3||f||_{\infty}$ $(f \in A(\overline{\mathbb{D}}))$. We have $p(f) \leq 3||f||_{\infty}$, as every $0 \neq f \in A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ can be expressed as $f + (1+\epsilon)||f||_{\infty} (1+\epsilon)||f||_{\infty}$ for any $\epsilon > 0$.

Clearly $(A(\mathbb{D}), p(.))$ is isomorphic to the disc algebra, but not isometrically isomorphic. That is, $||f||_{\infty} \neq p(f)$ for some $f \in A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$.

In fact, we have $p(f) \geq \frac{e}{2}|f'(0)|$ for every f(where e = exp(1)). ¹ Basically we show that $||f||_{\infty} \geq \frac{e}{2}|f'(0)|$ for every $f \in U^{-1}$. To show this, consider a non constant function $f \in U^{-1}$. Note here that if f'(0) = 0, then $||f||_{\infty} \geq \frac{e}{2}|f'(0)|$ holds trivially. Now since $f(z) \neq 0$ for every $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$, there exists an analytic function $g: \overline{\mathbb{D}} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$

 $^{^{1}}$ The authors thank Fedor Nazarov whose contribution over mathoverflow.net was helpful in developing ideas for this argument.

such that $f = e^g$. We can scale f such that f(0) = 1 (since we are estimating $\frac{\|f\|_{\infty}}{\|f'(0)\|}$). We may assume g(0) = 0. Therefore $g(z) = \alpha z + \ldots$, where $\alpha = f'(0)$. Now $\|f\|_{\infty} = e^{\sup(\Re g)}$. Let $\beta = \sup(\Re g)$, and define the conformal map h from D onto the region $\Re z < \beta$ as $h(z) = \frac{2\beta z}{1+z}$. Note that $\beta > 0$ by the open mapping theorem. Applying Schwarz Lemma to $h^{-1} \circ g$, we get

$$|(h^{-1} \circ g)'(0)| = |(h^{-1})'(g(0))g'(0)|$$
$$= \frac{|g'(0)|}{|h'(0)|} \le 1.$$

Therefore $|g'(0)| \le |h'(0)|$ i.e $\frac{|\alpha|}{2} \le \beta$. Hence

$$e^{\frac{|\alpha|}{2}} \le e^{\beta} = e^{\sup \Re g} = \|f\|_{\infty}.$$

Thus

$$\min_{|\alpha|\in\mathbb{R}}\frac{e^{\frac{|\alpha|}{2}}}{|\alpha|} \le \min_{f\in U^{-1}}\frac{\|f\|_{\infty}}{|f'(0)|}.$$

Since $\min_{|\alpha|\in\mathbb{R}} \frac{e^{\frac{|\alpha|}{2}}}{|\alpha|} = \frac{e}{2}$, we have $||f||_{\infty} \ge \frac{e}{2}|f'(0)|$ for every $f \in U^{-1}$. Now let $f \in A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ and let $f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i$ where $f_i \in U^{-1}$. Then we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|f_i\|_{\infty} \ge \frac{e}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |f_i'(0)| \ge \frac{e}{2} |f'(0)|.$$

and hence $p(f) \ge \frac{e}{2} |f'(0)|$. Considering the function f(z) = z for all $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$, we get $p(f) \ge \frac{e}{2} |f'(0)| = \frac{e}{2} ||f||_{\infty}$ i.e $p(f) \ne r(f)$.

The above example hence proves that a characterizing property of commutative Banach algebras may not be sufficient on the invertible elements.

Chapter 3

A weaker Gleason Kahane Żelazko theorem

3.1 Introduction

Let A be a complex unital Banach algebra. In [11], [13] and [36], Gleason, Kahane and Żelazko gave a characterization of multiplicative linear functionals on a Banach algebra (it will be referred to as the GKZ theorem). The classical proofs used tools from complex function theory. An elementary proof was given by Roitman and Sternfeld in [30]. For a survey of the GKZ theorem and its early generalizations, see [12].

Theorem 3.1.1 (Gleason- Kahane- Zelazko Theorem). If $\varphi : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ is a non zero linear functional, then the following are equivalent.

- (i) $\varphi(1) = 1$ and $\varphi(a) \neq 0$ for every $a \in A^{-1}$.
- (ii) $\varphi(a)1 a \notin A^{-1}$ for all $a \in A$.
- (iii) φ is multiplicative i.e. $\varphi(ab) = \varphi(a)\varphi(b)$ for all $a, b \in A$

Proof. See [3], Theorem 16.7.

In 2015, Mashregi and Ransford [22], generalized the GKZ theorem to modules. Before stating it, we will revise the concept of A- modules.

Definition 3.1.2. Let A be an algebra over a field \mathbb{F} , and \mathcal{X} be a vector space over \mathbb{F} . The vector space \mathcal{X} is said to be a *left A-module* if the map from

$$A \times \mathcal{X} \longrightarrow \mathcal{X}$$

defined as

$$(a, x) \longrightarrow ax$$

satisfies the following:

- (i) given any fixed $a \in A$ the map $x \longrightarrow ax$ is linear on \mathcal{X} .
- (ii) given any fixed $x \in \mathcal{X}$ the map $a \longrightarrow ax$ is linear on A.
- (iii) a(bx) = (ab)x $(a, b \in A, x \in \mathcal{X}).$

Here the map $(a, x) \longrightarrow ax$ is called the *module multiplication*.

A right A-module can also be defined analogously. We call a left A-module to be unit linked, if A has a unit element 1 and 1x = x ($x \in \mathcal{X}$). We can similarly define a unit linked right A-module.

Definition 3.1.3. Let A be a normed algebra over a field \mathbb{F} , and \mathcal{X} be a normed linear space over \mathbb{F} . Then \mathcal{X} is said to be a *normed left A-module* if \mathcal{X} is a left A-module and there exists a K > 0 such that

$$||ax|| \le K ||a|| ||x|| \qquad (a \in A, x \in \mathcal{X}).$$

A normed left A-module is called a *Banach left A-module* if it is complete as a normed linear space. We can similarly define *Banach right A-modules*.

If A is a normed algebra, then we can immediately see that A is a left/right normed A-module, with the module multiplication given by the algebra product itself. Also any left/right ideal of A is a normed left/right A-module. Note that every A-module considered in this section is *unit linked*.

Now we state the result by Mashregi and Ransford.

Theorem 3.1.4. Let A be a complex unital Banach algebra, let \mathcal{X} be a left A-module and let S be a non empty subset of \mathcal{X} satisfying the following conditions:

- (P1) S generates \mathcal{X} as a A-module. That is, for every $x \in \mathcal{X}$ there exists $a_1, a_2, \dots a_n \in A$ and $s_1, s_2, \dots s_n \in S$ such that $x = \sum_{i=1}^n a_i s_i$;
- (P2) if $a \in A^{-1}$ and $s \in S$, then $as \in S$;
- (P3) for all $s_1, s_2 \in S$, there exists $a_1, a_2 \in A$ such that $a_j s_j \in S$ (j = 1, 2) and $a_1 s_1 = a_2 s_2$.

Let $\xi : \mathcal{X} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ be a linear functional such that $\xi(s) \neq 0$ for all $s \in S$. Then there exists a unique character $\eta : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\xi(ax) = \eta(a)\xi(x) \qquad (a \in A, x \in \mathcal{X}).$$

Remark 3.1.5. Theorem 3.1.4 holds even if we replace the condition (P2) by the following: If $a \in exp(A)$ and $s \in S$, then $as \in S$.

Remark 3.1.6. If we replace \mathcal{X} by A and S by A^{-1} in Theorem 3.1.4, then $\frac{\xi}{\xi(1)}$: $A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ is multiplicative.

Remark 3.1.7. If $\xi : \mathcal{X} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ be a linear functional, then, like (i) and (ii) of Theorem 3.1.1 the following are equivalent.

- (i) $\xi(s) \neq 0$ for every $s \in S$.
- (ii) $\xi(x)s \xi(s)x \notin S$ for every $x \in \mathcal{X}$ and $s \in S$.

Very recently, Mashregi et al. extended their work from [22] to give a Dirichlet space analogue of the GKZ theorem [21]. Also in 2017, Ghodrat and Sady [10], introduced zero sets and spectrum-like sets for an element of a Banach module. They also introduced a subset which behaves as the set of invertible elements of commutative unital Banach algebra, and gave some GKZ-type theorems for Banach left modules.

An interesting development to the GKZ Theorem 3.1.1 was obtained by Kowalski and Słodkowski [15], where they replaced the two assumptions of linearity and preservation of invertibility by a single weaker assumption and showed that under this weaker condition, the same conclusion of Theorem 3.1.1 holds. Additionally, they also proved linearity. More precisely, they proved the following:

Theorem 3.1.8. Let A be a complex unital Banach algebra and let $\varphi : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ satisfy

$$\varphi(0) = 0,$$

and

$$(\varphi(x) - \varphi(y))1 - (x - y) \notin A^{-1}$$
 for every $x, y \in A$.

Then φ is multiplicative and linear.

In the following section we consider complex valued maps on Banach modules. We gradually drop linearity in the hypothesis of Theorem 3.1.4, alter it and see to what extent can we obtain its exact conclusion along with linearity. In Proposition 3.2.3

we assume ξ to be only \mathbb{R} -linear. In Theorem 3.2.4 we even drop \mathbb{R} -linearity of ξ , replace it by a weaker assumption on S and consequently get a Kowalski-Słodkowski type Theorem for modules. Explicitly speaking, in place of assuming ξ to be linear, we put the following conditions:

$$\xi(0) = 0$$

and

$$(\xi(x_1) - \xi(x_2))s - (x_1 - x_2)\xi(s) \notin S$$
 for every $x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{X}$ and $s \in S$;

and obtain a similar conclusion as Theorem 3.1.4. At the end we give some applications to linear functionals on Hardy spaces.

Of late some problems, along similar lines have been studied. Like in the case of Banach algebras [35], it is investigated, as to when a continuous multiplicative map, with values belonging spectrum, is automatically linear.

3.2 A weaker Gleason Kahane Żelazko theorem for modules

Definition 3.2.1. Let \mathcal{X} be a complex linear space. We say that a map $\phi : \mathcal{X} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ is complex (real) linear (shortly \mathbb{C} -linear or \mathbb{R} -linear) if it is additive and homogeneous with respect to complex (real) scalars.

In the next proposition, we use the following lemma from [15].

Lemma 3.2.2. Let A be a complex Banach algebra with unit element 1 and let f be an \mathbb{R} - linear map on A such that

$$f(a)1 - a \notin A^{-1}$$
 for every $a \in A$.

Then f is \mathbb{C} -linear.

Proposition 3.2.3. Let A be a complex unital Banach algebra, let \mathcal{X} be a left Amodule and let S be a non empty subset of \mathcal{X} satisfying (P1), (P2) and (P3). Let ξ be a non zero \mathbb{R} -linear functional on \mathcal{X} such that

$$\xi(x)s - \xi(s)x \notin S \tag{3.1}$$

for every $x \in \mathcal{X}$ and $s \in S$. Then ξ is \mathbb{C} -linear and there exists a unique character $\eta : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\xi(ax) = \eta(a)\xi(x) \qquad (a \in A, x \in \mathcal{X}).$$

Proof. By the use of (3.1) and (P2), we observe that for every $s \in S$, $\xi(s) \neq 0$. Given $s \in S$, define $\eta_s : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ by

$$\eta_s(a) \coloneqq \frac{\xi(as)}{\xi(s)} \qquad (a \in A).$$

Clearly, η_s is an \mathbb{R} -linear map on A. Also $\eta_s(a)1 - a \notin A^{-1}$ for every $a \in A$ because if there exist an $a' \in A$ such that $\eta_s(a')1 - a' \in A^{-1}$, then $\xi(a's)s - (a's)\xi(s) \in S$ by (P2), but this is a contradiction to (3.1). Hence from Lemma 3.2.2 we get that η_s is \mathbb{C} -linear and from Theorem 3.1.1, η_s is multiplicative on A.

Given $s_1, s_2 \in S$, from property (P3) we get $a_1, a_2 \in A$ such that $a_j s_j \in S$ (j = 1, 2) and $a_1 s_1 = a_2 s_2$. Then,

$$\xi(a_1 s_1) = \xi(a_2 s_2). \tag{3.2}$$

And for each $a \in A$, we have $aa_1s_1 = aa_2s_2$, whence

$$\eta_{s_1}(a)\xi(a_1s_1) = \eta_{s_2}(a)\xi(a_2s_2). \tag{3.3}$$

As $a_j s_j \in S$, both sides of (3.2) are non zero. Thus we may divide (3.3) by (3.2) and get

$$\eta_{s_1}(a) = \eta_{s_2}(a)$$

Thus η_s is independent of s. We denote it simply by η and we have

$$\xi(as) = \eta(a)\xi(s) \qquad (a \in A, s \in S)$$

Now let $a \in A$ and $x \in \mathcal{X}$. By condition (P1), there exists $a_1, a_2 \cdots a_n \in A$ and $s_1, s_2 \cdots s_n \in S$ such that $x = \sum_{j=1}^n a_j s_j$. Then we have

$$\xi(ax) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi(aa_j s_j) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \eta(aa_j)\xi(s_j) = \eta(a) \sum_{j=1}^{n} \eta(a_j)\xi(s_j) = \eta(a)\xi(x).$$
(3.4)

Now as η is \mathbb{C} -linear, we get that ξ is \mathbb{C} -linear.

Next we drop the linearity condition and replace condition (3.1) by (3.6).

Theorem 3.2.4. Let A be a complex unital Banach algebra, let \mathcal{X} be a left A-module and let S be a non empty subset of \mathcal{X} satisfying (P1), (P2) and (P3). Let $\xi : \mathcal{X} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ be non zero and satisfies,

$$\xi(0) = 0, \tag{3.5}$$

$$(\xi(x_1) - \xi(x_2))s - (x_1 - x_2)\xi(s) \notin S \text{ for every } x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{X} \text{ and } s \in S.$$
 (3.6)

Then there exist a unique character $\eta: A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\xi(as) = \eta(a)\xi(s) \qquad (a \in A, s \in S).$$

Proof. By the use of (3.5), (3.6) and (P2), we observe that for every $s \in S$, $\xi(s) \neq 0$. Given $s \in S$, define $\eta_s : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ by

$$\eta_s(a) \coloneqq \frac{\xi(as)}{\xi(s)} \qquad (a \in A).$$

Observe that $\eta_s(0) = 0$ and using (3.6) and (P2) we get

$$(\eta_s(a_1) - \eta_s(a_2))1 - (a_1 - a_2) \notin A^{-1}$$
 $(a_1, a_2 \in A).$

Hence from Theorem 3.1.8 η_s is a multiplicative linear functional on A. Proceeding as in the proof of Proposition 3.2.3 we can show that η_s is independent of s and can be denoted as η with

$$\xi(as) = \eta(a)\xi(s) \qquad (a \in A, s \in S)).$$

Remark 3.2.5. If we replace \mathcal{X} by A and S by A^{-1} in Theorem 3.2.4, then $\frac{\xi}{\xi^{(1)}}$: $A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ is multiplicative and linear. Thus Theorem 3.2.4 contains the Kowalski and Słodkowski theorem (Theorem 3.1.8) as a special case if we also add $\xi^{(1)} = 1$. Note that Theorem 3.1.8 was used in the proof of Theorem 3.2.4.

Corollary 3.2.6. Under the assumption of Theorem 3.2.4, if \mathcal{X} is generated as a Banach A-module by an element s_0 of S, then ξ is linear and there exist a unique character $\eta : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\xi(ax) = \eta(a)\xi(x) \qquad (a \in A, x \in \mathcal{X}).$$

Proof. Assume that ξ satisfies the stated property. Then, as in the proof of the above theorem, exists a unique character $\eta : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\xi(as) = \eta(a)\xi(s) \qquad (a \in A, s \in S)).$$

Let $x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{X}$. Then by hypothesis, there exists $a_1, a_2 \in A$ such that $x_1 = a_1 s_0$ and $x_2 = a_2 s_0$. Then

$$\xi(x_1 + x_2) = \xi(a_1 s_0 + a_2 s_0)$$

= $\eta(a_1 + a_2)\xi(s_0)$
= $\eta(a_1)\xi(s_0) + \eta(a_2)\xi(s_0)$
= $\xi(x_1) + \xi(x_2)$

Now like in equation (3.2.2), using condition (P1) we can show that

$$\xi(ax) = \eta(a)\xi(x) \qquad (a \in A, x \in \mathcal{X}),$$

and as η is homogeneous, we get that ξ is also homogeneous.

Corollary 3.2.7. Under the assumption of Theorem 3.2.4, if ξ satisfies the following property

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi(s_j) = \xi\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} s_j\right), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}, \ s_j \in S.$$
(3.7)

Then ξ is linear and there exists a unique character $\eta: A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\xi(ax) = \eta(a)\xi(x) \qquad (a \in A, x \in \mathcal{X}).$$

Proof. From the proof of Theorem 3.2.4 there exists a unique character $\eta: A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\xi(as) = \eta(a)\xi(s) \qquad (a \in A, s \in S).$$

Given $x \in \mathcal{X}$, by property (P1), there exists $a_1, a_2 \cdots a_n \in A$ and $s_1, s_2 \cdots s_n \in S$ such that $x = \sum_{j=1}^n a_j s_j$.

$$\xi(x) = \xi\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j s_j\right)$$
$$= \xi\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} (a_j - t_j)s_j + (t_j)s_j\right) \quad t_j \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma(a_j)$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi((a_j - t_j)s_j) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi(t_j s_j) \quad from \ (3.7) \ and \ (P2)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \eta(a_j - t_j)\xi(s_j) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \eta(t_j)\xi(s_j)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \eta(a_j)\xi(s_j) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi(a_j s_j)$$

Using the above argument we can show that given $x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{X}$

$$\xi(x_1 + x_2) = \xi(x_1) + \xi(x_2).$$

Now as in the proof of Proposition (3.2.3), we can show that, ξ is linear and

$$\xi(ax) = \eta(a)\xi(x) \qquad (a \in A, \ x \in \mathcal{X}).$$

Hence proved.

A related question

GKZ theorem answers when a linear functional is multiplicative. Now we consider another question. That is, under what condition can a multiplicative kind of map on a Banach module, be linear? It turns out that, it depends on the analytic condition of the associated map, as given in [35].

Theorem 3.2.8. Let A be a complex unital Banach algebra, let \mathcal{X} be a left A-module and let S be a non empty subset of \mathcal{X} satisfying (P1), (P2) and (P3). Let $\eta : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ and $\xi : \mathcal{X} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ be such that

$$\xi(ax) = \eta(a)\xi(x) \qquad (a \in A, x \in \mathcal{X})$$

and

$$\xi(x)s - \xi(s)x \notin S \qquad (s \in S, x \in \mathcal{X}).$$

Then η is linear iff for each $a \in A$ the map $\tau_a : \mathbb{C} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ defined as

$$\tau_a(\lambda) = \eta(\lambda 1 - a)$$

is an entire function on \mathbb{C} .

Proof. Let $s \in S$. As $\xi(s) \neq 0$,

$$\eta(ab) = \frac{\xi(abs)}{\xi(s)} = \frac{\eta(a)\xi(bs)}{\xi(s)} = \frac{\eta(a)\eta(b)\xi(s)}{\xi(s)} = \eta(a)\eta(b).$$

Thus η is multiplicative. And like in Proposition 3.2.3 we can show that $\eta(a)-a \notin A^{-1}$ for every $a \in A$. Now the result follows from Theorem 2.1 in [35] which states that: Let A be a Banach algebra. Then a multiplicative functional ϕ on A satisfying

$$\phi(x) \in \sigma(x)$$
 for every $x \in A$

is linear if and only if for each $x \in A$ the map

$$\lambda \mapsto \phi(\lambda 1 - x)$$

is an entire function on \mathbb{C} .

In the following example we see that under the hypothesis of the above theorem, the condition that for each $a \in A$, τ_a is entire is sufficient for η to be linear, but the same condition may not be not sufficient for ξ to be linear.

Example 3.2.9. Let $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{C}^2$ with usual pointwise operations and any algebra norm. Let S be the set of invertible elements in \mathcal{X} . We take A to be the complex field \mathbb{C} . Let $\eta : A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ be the identity map. Define $\xi : \mathcal{X} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ as follows:

$$\xi(a,b) = \begin{cases} b, & a \neq 0, \\ 0, & a = 0. \end{cases}$$

Note that $\xi(\alpha(a, b)) = \eta(\alpha)\xi(a, b)$ for every $\alpha \in A$ and $(a, b) \in \mathcal{X}$ but ξ is not linear. Moreover, $\xi(x)s - \xi(s)x$ is not invertible, for any $x \in \mathcal{X}$ and any invertible element s in S.

3.3 Applications to Hardy spaces on the unit disc

In this section, we apply Theorem 3.2.4 to the Hardy spaces. Initially let us give a quick revision of the Hardy spaces on the open unit disc, and also the concept of inner and outer functions.

Let $\mathbb{D} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}$, and let

$$Hol(\mathbb{D}) := \{ f : \mathbb{D} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C} \mid f \text{ is holomorphic on } \mathbb{D} \}.$$

The Hardy spaces on \mathbb{D} are defined as:

$$H^{p}(\mathbb{D}) := \left\{ f \in Hol\left(\mathbb{D}\right) : \sup_{r < 1} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \left| f\left(re^{i\theta}\right) \right|^{p} d\theta < \infty \right\} \qquad (0 < p < \infty),$$
$$H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) := \left\{ f \in Hol\left(\mathbb{D}\right) : \sup_{z \in D} |f\left(z\right)| < \infty \right\}.$$

Using the Hölder's inequality, one can prove that

$$H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) \subset H^{q}(\mathbb{D}) \subset H^{p}(\mathbb{D})$$

if $0 . Note that <math>H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ with the norm defined as

$$||f||_{\infty} = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{D}} |f(z)| \qquad (f \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})),$$

is a commutative unital Banach algebra with point-wise multiplication and the unit element as the constant function one.

Let $\mathbb{T} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1\}$ and $0 . Then <math>g \in H^p(\mathbb{D})$ is **outer** if there exists $G : \mathbb{T} \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ with $G \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ such that

$$g(z) = \alpha exp\left(\int_0^{2\pi} \frac{e^{i\theta} + z}{e^{i\theta} - z} G\left(e^{i\theta}\right) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}\right) \qquad (z \in \mathbb{D})$$

and $|\alpha| = 1$. Let $F \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$. Then

$$f(e^{i\theta}) = \lim_{r \longrightarrow 1} F(re^{i\theta})$$

exists for almost all $e^{i\theta} \in \mathbb{T}$ (See [20], Lemma 3.10). If

$$|f(e^{i\theta})| = 1,$$

for almost all $e^{i\theta} \in \mathbb{T}$ then F is an **inner** function. A common example of an inner function is the Blashke product (See [20] section 7.2).

Theorem 3.3.1 (Canonical factorization). Let f be a non zero function in $H^p(\mathbb{D})$,

 $0 . Then f has a factorization <math>f = I_f O_f$, where I_f is inner and O_f is outer. This factorization is unique upto a constant of modulus one.

Proof. See [20], Section 7.6 or [8], Theorem 2.8.

Now we will apply Theorem 3.2.4 to Hardy spaces on the unit disc.

Theorem 3.3.2. Let $0 and let <math>\xi : H^p \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ satisfy

$$\xi(0) = 0, \quad \xi(1) \neq 0, \tag{3.8}$$

$$(\xi(f_1) - \xi(f_2))1 - (f_1 - f_2)\xi(1) \notin S \text{ for every } f_1, f_2 \in H^p$$
(3.9)

where S is the set of all outer functions in H^p . Then there exists $c \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ and $z_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ such that

$$\xi(g) = cg(z_0) \qquad (g \in H^\infty).$$

Proof. We will take $\mathcal{X} = H^p$, $A = H^\infty$ and S to be the set of all outer functions in H^p , in Theorem 3.2.4. S satisfies condition (P1) because of the canonical factorization theorem. Condition (P2) holds because every invertible function $g \in H^\infty$ is outer (if we multiply the inner-outer factorizations of h and 1/h, then the factorization of 1 is obtained. Since the factorization is unique, we get that the inner factorization of h and 1/h are both 1). As every outer function can be expressed as the quotient of two outer bounded functions ([8], Proof of Theorem 1.2), condition (P3) holds.

Using (3.8) and (3.9) we get that $\xi(s) \neq 0$ for every outer functions s in H^p and proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 3.2.4 we get that there a exists a unique character $\eta: A \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\xi(gs) = \eta(g)\xi(s) \qquad (g \in H^{\infty}, s \in S).$$

By the canonical factorization theorem, every function in H^p can be expressed uniquely as the product of an inner function (which belongs to H^{∞}) and an outer function in H^p . And thus we actually have

$$\xi(gf) = \eta(g)\xi(f) \qquad (g \in H^{\infty}, f \in H^p).$$

In particular

$$\frac{\xi(g)}{\xi(1)} = \eta(g) \qquad (g \in H^{\infty}).$$

Let $c = \xi(1)$ and $z_0 = \eta(v)$ where v is the function v(z) = z for every $z \in \mathbb{D}$. As 1 is an outer function, we have $c \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$. For $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{D}$, the function $(v - \lambda 1)$ is outer, so we have $\xi(v - \lambda 1) \neq 0$ and hence $\eta(v - \lambda 1) \neq 0$, thus $z_0 \neq \lambda$. And we have $z_0 \in \mathbb{D}$. Let $g \in H^{\infty}$. Define

$$k(z) = \frac{g(z) - g(z_0)}{z - z_0}$$

Then $k \in H^{\infty}$. Also $g = g(z_0)1 + (v - z_01)k$. Thus

$$\eta(g) = g(z_0)\eta(1) + \eta(v - z_0 1)\eta(k) = g(z_0) + 0$$

i.e

$$\frac{\xi(g)}{\xi(1)} = g(z_0)$$

Hence we get $\xi(g) = cg(z_0)$ as desired.

Corollary 3.3.3. Under the assumption of Theorem 3.3.2 if ξ is taken to be continuous, then there exists $c \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ and $z_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ such that

$$\xi(f) = cf(z_0) \qquad (f \in H^p).$$

Proof. The proof follows from the fact that polynomials are dense in H^p for 0 ([8], Theorem 3.3).

Theorem 3.3.4. Let $0 and let <math>T : H^p \longrightarrow Hol(\mathbb{D})$ satisfy

$$T(0)(z) = 0 \qquad (z \in \mathbb{D}),$$

(T1)(z) \neq 0 (z \in \mathbb{D}),
((Tf_1)(z) - (Tf_2)(z))1 - (f_1 - f_2)(T1)(z) \net S (f_1, f_2 \in H^p, z \in \mathbb{D}).

Then there exist holomorphic functions $\psi : \mathbb{D} \longrightarrow \mathbb{D}$ and $\phi : \mathbb{D} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ such that

$$Tg = \phi \cdot (g \circ \psi) \qquad (g \in H^{\infty}).$$

Proof. Define $\phi = T1$, then $\phi \in Hol(\mathbb{D})$ and is nowhere zero. Define $\psi = (Tv)/\phi$, where v(z) := z, then $\psi \in Hol(\mathbb{D})$. For $z \in \mathbb{D}$, the map $g \longrightarrow (Tg)(z)$ satisfies condition (3.8) and (3.9) of Theorem 3.3.2. Hence there exists $z_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ and $c \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ such that $(Tg)(z) = cg(z_0)$ for all $g \in H^{\infty}$. Taking g = 1 we see that $c = \phi(z)$.

Taking g = v we get $z_0 = \psi(z)$. Then $\psi(z) \in \mathbb{D}$ and $(Tg)(z) = \phi(z)g(\psi(z))$ for all $g \in H^{\infty}$.

Corollary 3.3.5. Under the assumption of Theorem 3.3.4 if T is taken to be continuous. Then there exist holomorphic functions $\psi : \mathbb{D} \longrightarrow \mathbb{D}$ and $\phi : \mathbb{D} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ such that

$$Tf = \phi \cdot (f \circ \psi) \qquad (f \in H^p).$$

Concluding Remarks and Future work

Conclusion

- Commutative unital Banach algebras satisfying condition (B) have been characterized fully. For the non- commutative case we have investigated C^* -Algebra and some cases of B(X).
- Working along the same lines as Kowalski and Słodkowski, we removed the assumption of linearity in the hypothesis of GKZ theorem for modules, modified it, and got a weaker GKZ Theorem for modules. We further gave applications to functionals on Hardy spaces.

Future Work

- We need to characterize **non commutative** Banach algebras for condition (B).
- Given the hypothesis in Theorem 3.3.2, we get that ξ is of multiplicative kind, but we still aim to get linearity. This could be achieved by assuming that ξ is continuous, as we did in Corollary 3.3.3. The question remains that does condition (3.9) in Theorem 3.3.2 imply that ξ is continuous? One possible approach could be by proving that ξ is Lipschitz continuous or using the sequential criteria. But one should note that the set of all outer functions is neither open nor closed in H^p, 0

Does hypothesis in Theorem 3.3.2 imply that ξ is **continuous**?

Publications Based on this Thesis

Journal Publications:

 Geethika Sebastian and Sukumar Daniel, On the open ball centered at an invertible element of a Banach Algebra, Oper. Matrices. 12, 1, (2018), 19–25 Doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.7153/oam-2018-12-02

2. Geethika Sebastian and Sukumar Daniel, A characterizing property of commutative Banach algebras may not be sufficient only on the invertible elements, Comptes Rendus Mathematique **356**, 6, (2018), 594–596 Doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crma.2018.05.002

3. Geethika Sebastian and Sukumar Daniel, A weaker Gleason Kahane Żelazko theorem for modules and applications to Hardy spaces. (Communicated).

Symbols

- $A(\bar{\mathbb{D}})$ The Disc algebra. 14
- A^{-1} Set of all invertible elements in A. 3
- B(X) space of bounded linear maps on a vector space X. 2
- B(a,r) Open ball centered at a with radius r. 4
- C(K) space of continuous functions on topological space K. 2
- $L^1(G)$ space of integrable functions on a LCA group G. 2
- Γ Dual of a LCA group G. 3
- $\mathbb D$ The closed unit disc on the complex plane. 14
- $\exp(a)$ Exponential of a Banach algebra element a. 6
- \hat{A} Image of Banach algebra A under the Gelfand transform. 9
- $\kappa(a)$ Condition number. 12
- \mathbb{C} The field of all Complex Numbers. 1
- \mathcal{M}_A The maximal ideal space of a Banach algebra A. 8
- ${\mathfrak A}$ Uniform algebra. 13
- $\sigma(a)$ Spectrum of an element a. 5
- $\sigma_\epsilon\,$ Condition spectrum. 12
- Sing(A) Set of all singular elements in A. 3
- dist(a, S') Distance from λ to the set S', i.e. $inf\{|\lambda \mu| : \mu \in S'\}$. 11
- r(a) Spectral radius of an element a. 5

References

- [1] G.R. Allan and H.G. Dales. *Introduction to Banach Spaces and Algebras*. Introduction to Banach Spaces and Algebras. Oxford University Press, 2011.
- [2] J. W. Baker and J. S. Pym. A remark on continuous bilinear mappings. Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. (2), 17:245–248, 1970/71.
- [3] F.F. Bonsall and J. Duncan. Complete normed algebras. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. Springer-Verlag, 1973.
- [4] A. Browder. Introduction to function algebras. Mathematics lecture note series. W. A. Benjamin, 1969.
- [5] Xavier Carvajal and Wladimir Neves. Operators that achieve the norm. Integral Equations Operator Theory, 72(2):179–195, 2012.
- [6] T. W. Dawson and J. F. Feinstein. On the denseness of the invertible group in Banach algebras. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 131(9):2831–2839, 2003.
- [7] A. Deitmar and S. Echterhoff. *Principles of Harmonic Analysis*. Universitext. Springer International Publishing, 2014.
- [8] P.L. Duren. *Theory of Hp Spaces*. Dover books on mathematics. Dover Publications, 2000.
- [9] T.W. Gamelin. Uniform Algebras. AMS Chelsea Publishing Series. American Mathematical Society, 2005.
- [10] Razieh Sadat Ghodrat and Fereshteh Sady. Point multipliers and the Gleason-Kahane-żelazko theorem. Banach J. Math. Anal., 11(4):864–879, 2017.
- [11] Andrew M. Gleason. A characterization of maximal ideals. J. Analyse Math., 19:171–172, 1967.

- [12] Krzysztof Jarosz. Generalizations of the Gleason-Kahane-żelazko theorem. Rocky Mountain J. Math., 21(3):915–921, 1991.
- [13] J.-P. Kahane and W. Zelazko. A characterization of maximal ideals in commutative Banach algebras. *Studia Math.*, 29:339–343, 1968.
- [14] J.L. Kelley. *General Topology*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer New York, 1975.
- [15] S. Kowalski and Z. Slodkowski. A characterization of multiplicative linear functionals in Banach algebras. *Studia Math.*, 67(3):215–223, 1980.
- [16] G. Krishna Kumar and S. H. Kulkarni. An analogue of the spectral mapping theorem for condition spectrum. In *Concrete operators, spectral theory, operators* in harmonic analysis and approximation, volume 236 of Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., pages 299–316. Birkhäuser/Springer, Basel, 2014.
- [17] Arundathi Krishnan and S. H. Kulkarni. Pseudospectrum of an element in a banach algebra. Oper. Matrices, 11(1):263–287, 2017.
- [18] S. H. Kulkarni and D. Sukumar. The condition spectrum. Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged), 74(3-4):625–641, 2008.
- [19] R. Larsen. Banach Algebras: An Introduction. Pure and Applied Mathematics Series. Marcel Dekker Incorporated, 1973.
- [20] J. Mashreghi and London Mathematical Society. Representation Theorems in Hardy Spaces. London Mathematical Society St. Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [21] Javad Mashreghi, Julian Ransford, and Thomas Ransford. A gleason-kahane-Żelazko theorem for the dirichlet space. Journal of Functional Analysis, 274(11):3254 – 3262, 2018.
- [22] Javad Mashreghi and Thomas Ransford. A Gleason-Kahane-Zelazko theorem for modules and applications to holomorphic function spaces. *Bull. Lond. Math. Soc.*, 47(6):1014–1020, 2015.
- [23] Gerd Niestegge. A note on criteria of Le Page and Hirschfeld-żelazko for the commutativity of Banach algebras. *Studia Math.*, 79(1):87–90, 1984.

- [24] George H. Orland. On a class of operators. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 15:75–79, 1964.
- [25] T.W. Palmer. Banach Algebras and the General Theory of *-Algebras: Volume 1, Algebras and Banach Algebras. Banach Algebras and the General Theory of *-algebras. Cambridge University Press, 1994.
- [26] C. R. Putnam. Operators satisfying a G_1 condition. *Pacific J. Math.*, 84(2):413–426, 1979.
- [27] C.E. Rickart. General theory of Banach algebras. The University series in higher mathematics. R. E. Krieger Pub. Co., 1974.
- [28] Marc A. Rieffel. Dimension and stable rank in the K-theory of C*-algebras. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 46(2):301–333, 1983.
- [29] Guyan Robertson. On the density of the invertible group in C*-algebras. Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. (2), 20(2):153–157, 1976.
- [30] M. Roitman and Y. Sternfeld. When is a linear functional multiplicative? Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 267(1):111–124, 1981.
- [31] W. Rudin. Fourier Analysis on Groups. A Wiley-interscience publication. Wiley, 1990.
- [32] S. Shkarin. Norm attaining operators and pseudospectrum. Integral Equations Operator Theory, 64(1):115–136, 2009.
- [33] J. G. Stampfli. Hyponormal operators and spectral density. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 117:469–476, 1965.
- [34] E.L. Stout. The theory of uniform algebras. Bogden & Quigley, 1971.
- [35] Cheick Toure, Francois Schulz, and Rudi Brits. Multiplicative maps into the spectrum. *Studia Math.*, 12(1):55–66, 2017.
- [36] W. Zelazko. A characterization of multiplicative linear functionals in complex Banach algebras. *Studia Math.*, 30:83–85, 1968.
- [37] K. Zhu. An Introduction to Operator Algebras. Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Taylor & Francis, 1993.